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In August 1922, the New York Times reported an upcoming conference among three Central American presidents.  "Using the borders of Nicaragua, Honduras, and Salvador as a base, bands of robbers, revolutionists and refugees have been harassing the three republics by robberies, depredations and attacks, keeping them in a constant state of turmoil and unrest."  The conference was envisioned as a way to "do away with this menace and obviate the constant expenditure of public moneys in separate fights against the marauders," to resolve once and for all what the Times called "the vexatious frontier question."
 
This unremarkable news story, echoing the language and categories of many others from this period, creates, by assuming, a sharp opposition:  three modern republican governments, each pursuing the public interest through the public purse, versus their common enemies:  bands of outlaws of various kinds who exploited the borders to commit their lawless deeds.  Simplistic and misleading, the story also underscored key themes in postcolonial Central American history, including  the relative autonomy of border regions from state power; the formation of alternative forms of borderlands sovereignties; and the high costs to states of exercising violence-making capacities in places adjacent to where their national territories ended.

In 1920s Central America, many border regions were places of endemic lawlessness, as national states defined the law.  From a borderlands perspective, in contrast, what existed was in some sense the opposite of lawlessness.  These were places brimming with laws, jurisdictions, and sovereignties, where lines of civil and military authority abounded, crisscrossed, overlapped, and often clashed.  Relations of political and legal authority were multiple, fractured, fluid, and hotly contested – a far cry from the homogeneous, uniform liberal-capitalist law that national states, according to our news story, were trying to impose.

A decade ago Michiel Baud and Willem Van Schendel urged scholars to rethink the role of borderlands in shaping the dynamics of social and political change among and between peoples, nations, states, and empires:  "Our point of departure is that we can properly understand the often unintended and unanticipated social consequences of national borders only by focusing on border regions and comparing them through time and space . . . Traditionally, border studies have adopted a view from the center; we argue for a view from the periphery."
  

This essay examines the historic role of the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands, focusing on the fifteen or so years between the Honduran civil war of 1919 and the consolidation of stable dictatorial regimes in both countries in the early and mid 1930s.  Events in this small border region can shed light on questions of interest to scholars of popular insurgency, state formation, borderlands sovereignties, and imperialist intervention in other contexts.  With today's world awash in "border troubles" – from Kashmir to Kurdistan to Darfur and beyond – the case of the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands in the interwar years offers a telling instance of how elite faction fights can transform into sustained popular insurgencies that in turn can spawn a host of unpredictable consequences – a process in which borderlands can play a pivotal role.  In this case, the borderlands' long history of local sovereignty and military mobilization combined with intensified elite faction fighting, foreign invasion and occupation, and popular-nationalist insurgency to generate ripple effects that no one could have foreseen at the time. 
Building on Baud and Van Schendel's model, this paper considers struggles not between two states but among four:  the Nicaraguan and Honduran national states; the Sandinista rebel state, based in Las Segovias and adjacent zones in Honduras; and the U.S. imperial state.  Adopting a view from the periphery, it also looks beyond national states to local and regional actors, including criminals and bandits, revolutionaries and insurgents, traders and merchants, migrants and refugees, landowners and caudillos, border officials and office-seekers.

The paper probes several key ironies of this period, all shaped in some way by the warping of jurisdictional and political spaces, and the formation of local and regional sovereignties, created by the existence of an imaginary fixed line between nation-states.  It begins by sketching the historical development of a cluster of social relations and military and cultural practices, deeply rooted in the borderlands, that were appropriated by Sandinista rebels in their struggle to create alternative forms of state power.  Among these were smuggling (mainly of tobacco, liquor, firearms, livestock, and stolen goods); banditry, cattle rustling, and other forms of criminality; casual and seasonal migrant labor (in mining, coffee, and public works); dense transborder social and political networks; and short-term transborder migration.  
The essay focuses more specifically on the political-military tools appropriated by the Sandinistas, and the costs entailed in using those weapons and tactics.  These included, most prominently:  military mobilization via local forms of caudillismo, and more broadly, culturally specific ways of producing public violence; using border zones to seek refuge from political enemies; issuance and revocation of guarantees (garantías); and levying forced contributions on propertied classes to acquire the material resources necessary to wage war.
In an earlier essay I described the gang political culture of the Western Segovias in the wake of the 1926-27 Civil War, emphasizing the local, homegrown nature of political gang violence, and how the mobilization and demobilization of such gangs was enmeshed in the fabric of the region's social life.
  Here I extend these notions in space and time to encompass the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands in the century after independence.  I show that these borderlands developed into a strategic military corridor between the two countries' national capitals, and suggest that this strategic corridor led to the formation, within the borderlands, of might be called a political culture of punctuated military mobilization.  Frequent, sporadic, contingent, and cyclical, this process of gang-army mobilization-demobilization, carried out by networks of local, regional, and national caudillos in pursuit of political goals, became integral to borderlands political culture.  Add to this the region's long history of smuggling and outlawry, ubiquitous poverty, entrenched inequalities of race, class, and gender, and the detrimental effects of the liberal and coffee revolutions, and by the mid-1920s the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands were primed for popular rebellion.

In response to the "second" US invasion and occupation of Nicaragua (1927-1933), rebel leader Augusto Sandino built on long antecedents of informal local sovereignty, in the borderlands and in the country's interior, to create a robust form of formal regional sovereignty.  His Defending Army of Nicaraguan National Sovereignty (EDSN) was conceived and constituted as a parallel nation-state, or rebel republic, wholly sovereign and exercising exclusive civil and military authority within its domains.  
Acting like a state, the Sandinista rebel republic waged war and levied taxes.  In practice this meant systematically plundering the moveable property of propertied Segovianos – from money, livestock and bags of coffee to clothing, jewelry, and cash.  Rebels seized these small lumps of accumulated capital, products of the commercial revolution that had transformed Las Segovias in the preceding half-century, and transported many of them to Honduras, where they sold or bartered them for guns, ammunition, medicines, and other supplies.  The practice grew and intensified as the war did, such that by late 1932 the Sandinistas were siphoning a good portion of Segovian capital out of northern Nicaragua and into southwestern Honduras.

This process of patriotic plunder, an unintended consequence of the US invasion and occupation, generated its own ironies.  Ideologically it provided the Sandinistas' enemies with a powerful weapon:  to credibly denounce the entire movement as mere "organized banditry."  It was a potent and credible charge because it rested squarely on the foundational principle of liberal-capitalist ideology – the sanctity of private property.  Sandino has long been considered a skilled propagandist; even US Marines and officials expressed grudging admiration for his myth-making abilities.  Yet the way his Defending Army acquired material resources to wage war provided his enemies with bountiful ideological resources to discredit, in the eyes of many, the whole of his popular-nationalist project.  Thus the perennial question – "Sandino:  patriot or bandit?" – resounds throughout the scholarly and popular literature, as it did throughout Nicaragua, Central America, and the Atlantic World at the time.
 
At a national level, growing rebel power led to growing state power, especially its violence-making, intelligence, and surveillance capacities.  The Guardia's strength grew dramatically during this period, both in the Segovian borderlands and in the country's main cities and towns, creating the preconditions for Anastasio Somoza's coup d'état of June 1936.  The western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands were key to all of these processes.  Indeed, absent the local and regional sovereignties that the existence of the border created, it is likely that Nicaraguan history would have taken a very different path.  (This seems less true of Honduras, for reasons explored below.)  If we can never know how different a path, we can say that the borderlands played a central role in determining the path that was followed.

At an epistemological level, the process of regional state formation made this investigation possible.  The US invasion and occupation created a powerful imperial spotlight that offers latter-day scholars an unprecedented look into the complexities of Segovian and borderlands history.  Evidence generated before 1927 provide at best fleeting glimpses into the region's social life.  Newspapers and government documents, our main sources, mostly offer stock words and phrases:  "robbers, revolutionists and refugees . . . depredations and attacks . . . turmoil and unrest."  Then, starting in mid-1927, the evidentiary base explodes.  The degree of detail can be astounding.  For the first time in the region's history, ordinary people's lives comes into clear focus.  The question then becomes:  to what extent do the social practices illuminated from mid-1927 apply to earlier periods, when the imperial spotlight shone weakly if at all?  My operative assumption here is that while some things changed, much remained the same, and that everything that was new was built on and embedded in something old.
Finally, the paper asks whether this case has any broader comparative implications.  Given the brevity of this presentation, the most I can do here is outline the main arguments. 
1.  Defining the Borderlands


We begin with geography and demography.  By the 1920s, the unevenly populated Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands divided into three main sections (see Map 2).  Of primary interest here is the arc from Somotillo to Las Manos – a border 100 miles long as the crow flies and perhaps four times as far afoot.  With elevations ranging from 100 to 1,500 meters above sea level, this rugged and undulating zone was marked by low mountain ranges, steep escarpments, and narrow twisting valleys.  Populated by perhaps 100,000 people in more than two dozen towns and hundreds of villages and hamlets – stretching as far north as Danlí, as far west as Choluteca, and as far southeast as Estelí – the zone also included large haciendas and several viable indigenous communities (most notably Mosonte and San Lucas in the western Segovias).  Bullcart paths, cattle trails, and military routes crisscrossed the border.  Analysis of Guardia intelligence in the period 1927-1932 reveals at least ten well-trafficked transborder routes in this hundred-mile stretch.


One such east-west route (between Somoto and San Marcos de Colón) passed through the border-straddling village of El Espino.  In late 1927 a Marine lieutenant described the village and boundary line:

ESPINO lies on the edge of the top of a high mountain facing the Coco River.  About twenty houses and sixty people comprise the pueblo.  Two stone piles separated about forty yards apart are supposed to indicate the HONDURAN-NICAGUAGUAN boundary lines.  This line runs through the center of the town.  Only one house on the Nicaraguan side of the town is occupied and the majority of the inhabitants living on the Hondurian side are Nicaraguan Citizens.  I was informed there that the town had no alcalde, that a Hondurian judge . . . residing near San Marcos occasionally visited the town to dispense justice (?), that a Honduran Guardia patrol came to Espino at long infrequent intervals, that the boundary line was established in 1915 by a Honduran Commission, and that a bandit leader [Medardo Vallejos] with about twenty followers was constantly making raids and depredations on Nicaraguans living near the border.  There were several men in the town on the supposedly Honduran side who looked suspicious and hostile but made no hostile move.  The only indication of the border line was that previously mentioned – the two stone piles – but there was no sign post or flag there.

The lieutenant's vivid description evokes key features of this 100-mile stretch of the border during this period:  the imprecision of the boundary line itself; the weakness of state power; the daily intermingling of citizens of both countries; and the continual threat of gang violence from both sides.

The Honduran border town of Las Manos, north of Ocotal, capital of the Nicaraguan department of Nueva Segovia, lay on the main route north to El Paraíso, Yuscarán, Danlí, and Tegucigalpa.  Just east of Las Manos began a second border segment, some fifty miles as the crow flies, riding the ridge of the Dipilto and Malacate mountain ranges to Cifuentes north of Jalapa.  In the 1920s and 1930s this zone was barely inhabited, characterized by a physical and human geography very different from the 100-mile stretch preceding it.  Bisected by high jagged peaks, the zone was given over to pine forests in the upcountry and dense tropical forests in the lowlands, interlaced with networks of thinly travelled footpaths through the many mountain passes – paths that became more thickly travelled after 1927.  Following the border east and northeast from Las Manos, the next major corridor was Cifuentes-Teotecacinte. 
The third and longest segment of the border extended from Cifuentes-Teotecacinte and the headwaters of the Río Poteca, southeast to the confluence of the Ríos Poteca and Coco, and east along the Río Coco to Cabo Gracias a Dios on the Atlantic Coast – a border more than 350 river miles in length.  A major theatre in Sandino's rebellion, the zone was vastly different from the western Segovias.  Navigable from the northward jog at Santa Cruz (Vigía), the Río Coco's cultural orientation faced not west toward the Hispanized western Segovias but east toward the mostly indigenous Río Bocay and Atlantic Coast regions, giving the region a very different social, economic, political, and cultural character.
  

These three sections of border played very distinct roles in Nicaraguan and Honduran history, in the political turmoil of 1919-1926, and in the campesino rebellion that followed, with the first and third being far and away the most important.  Here I am concerned mainly with the Somotillo-Las Manos borderlands, where there developed in century after independence a heavily traveled "military corridor" that from mid-1927 formed the heart of Sandino country.
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Map 1

  Political Centers of Honduras and Nicaragua
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Map 2

Three Sections of Nicaragua-Honduras Borderlands
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Map 3

Western Nicaragua-Honduras Borderlands
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Map 4

Some Major Routes from Tegucigalpa to León and Managua
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Map 5
Tilted Google Earth image looking south from Tegucigalpa toward the Nicaraguan Segovias and Pacific Coast region, with principal border crossing points in the 1920s, and approximate location of borderlands "military corridor" between Somotillo and Las Manos (sketched in red).




2. Formation of a Borderlands Military Corridor

This borderlands military corridor, one of the key geopolitical features of postcolonial Central America, lay midway between the national capitals and major population centers of Honduras and Nicaragua (see Maps 1-5).  Indeed, one is hard-pressed to find a comparable case anywhere in the world in the modern era:  two small republics, their dominant populations sharing the same language, religion, and cultural heritage, their capital cities separated by a mere 150 miles, equidistant from an ill-defined national border traversing a rugged and long-settled terrain – a border region in which there formed a frequently traveled route that political factions on both sides exploited to their geopolitical advantage, as a safe haven in which to mobilize troops and launch assaults against their enemies.  Perhaps similar military corridors developed in other Central American borderlands (Guatemala-Honduras-El Salvador), or in the Balkans or Central or Eastern Europe during the long nineteenth century, though none appear to have developed to the same degree.  To my knowledge the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands were unique in modern Latin American history (and even in modern world history) in this singular combination of attributes.

Before the Spanish invasions of the 1520s, what became the western borderlands were densely populated by Chorotega and Lenca speaking peoples whose cities and towns were based on sedentary agriculture, patriarchal caciquismo, and closely knit kin and community structures.  With the Spanish incursions, slaving quickly emerged as the region's chief economic activity.  By the 1550s some half a million natives of western Nicaragua and southwestern Honduras had been enslaved and exported to Panamá, Perú, and beyond.  Small quantities of gold were discovered in the region's riverbeds, and placer mining soon became the region's second most important export activity.  By the 1560s the slave trade had largely disappeared because so too had most of the region's inhabitants:  population losses through disease, slaving, and forced labor were as high as 90 percent during the first half-century of colonial rule.  Survivors either eluded Spanish tribute-gatherers or were forcibly incorporated into encomiendas or reducciones.  In the context of ongoing civil wars among factions of Spaniards, the region came under the administrative orbit of the city and province of León.  The rudiments of the political jurisdictions that would become the republics of Honduras and Nicaragua were apparent by the late 1540s, though not until the administrative reforms of 1785 were Honduras and Nicaragua designated intendancies in the Kingdom of Guatemala in the Viceroyalty of New Spain.

From the late sixteenth to the mid-eighteenth centuries, the region's surviving tributary Indians extracted and hauled pine lumber and pitch for shipbuilding in the Pacific port of Realejo (Corinto); worked the region's many small silver and gold mines; and produced staple goods.  The mining economy sparked the rise of cattle ranching and expansion of regional commerce, both remaining central to the region's political economy well after independence.  A small class of Spanish landowners, merchants, and officials dominated the upper tiers of a caste-like race-class hierarchy that imposed deep and enduring divisions on the region's social fabric.

As elsewhere in Spanish America, Indian communities retained collective rights in land and political autonomy, with political authority vested in caciques and councils of male elites.  Relations of power and privilege among indigenous elites resembled those of colonial patriarchs, and of regional caudillos of later centuries – political strongmen who ruled by virtue of birth status, leadership skills, and patronage networks.
  Social relations in gender and sexuality synthesized patriarchies of Spaniards and Indians, leading to the formation of a male-dominated social world, based on the patriarchal family and the sovereignty of the patriarch, and infused with indigenous and Hispanic discourses and practices of honor, shame, and sexuality.
  Languages of rights and justice among subaltern groups were expressed through robust idioms of patronage-clientage, folk Catholicism, honor-shame, and masculinity.

The reach of the colonial state was manifest mainly in the spread of Spanish law, institutions, and property relations, and facilitated by the growth of silver and gold mining, stock-raising, and regional commerce.  Twin military threats also extended the state's reach:  repeated raids and incursions by English and Dutch pirates, and by a sizeable population of unreduced Indians (indios bravos).  Colonial officials responded by establishing militias in the largest towns, including Nueva Segovia (later Ocotal), Condega, El Jícaro, and Choluteca, as locally produced violence became densely woven into the region's political culture and fabric of everyday life.

After the breakup of the Central American Federation in 1838, the region's history was shaped especially by the existence of a fixed international border – an imaginary line often contested, rarely apparent on the ground, stretching across a mountainous, fairly well populated, strategically important territory.  In the civil wars of the nineteenth century, the region's geographic location midway between the urban clusters of Tegucigalpa-Comayagua in Honduras and León-Managua-Granada in Nicaragua prompted dissident elites of both countries to exploit the border zones to mobilize armies, seek refuge, and marshal troops and supplies.  Movements of caudillo armies across the border occurred thousands of times in the century from the 1820s to 1920s, as factions in both nation-states used two main corridors to wage battles against their rivals.  One such corridor stretched from Somotillo north and west to El Triunfo, Choluteca, and Tegucigalpa; another extended north from Estelí, Somoto, and Ocotal to El Paraíso, Yuscarán, Danlí, and Tegucigalpa.

The liberal and coffee revolutions came to Nicaragua in the 1880s and 1890s, and to Honduras in the 1900s and 1910s, later than in the rest of Central America.  In the Segovias-Choluteca borderlands, as elsewhere, the liberal assault on the land and labor of campesinos and Indians took the form of partial and uneven land privatization, coercive labor regimes, and the rapid expansion of coffee cultivation in select sub-regions.  In the borderlands, these included the zones around Jalapa, Dipilto, and San Juan de Telpaneca in Nicaragua, and around Choluteca, San Marcos de Colón, and Danlí in Honduras.
  

The expansion of coffee production and liberal land and labor relations was accompanied by a marked expansion of regional commerce.  The commercial revolution from the 1880s to the 1920s transformed the borderlands in important ways, as substantial lumps of capital began to be traded and accumulated across the region.  By the 1920s, local-regional commerce linked to the expanding global capitalist system had become integral to the borderlands' political economy, a development that proved crucial to the popular mobilizations that mushroomed after 1926.


In the aftermath of Europe's Great War, these western borderlands were highly militarized and in nearly continuous armed ferment.  The 1919 civil war in Honduras, in which some 1,000 people were killed, sparked armed movements throughout the western borderlands by regional and national caudillos of diverse factions.  The instability of the Honduran state during these years, culminating in the civil war of 1924 –  "the most macabre battle of this century" with upwards of 5,000 dead – made the borderlands a place of frequent armed conflict and political-military mobilization.
  

So too did the instability of the Nicaraguan state.  In August 1921, dissident Liberals launched a series of raids into Nicaragua from bases in Honduras, briefly taking Limay, Somoto, and other Segovian towns and prompting President Diego Chamorro to declare martial law and dispatch 3,000 troops to the border zones to quell the uprising.  The president's nephew and de facto head of state, ex-president General Emiliano Chamorro, wrote to the US State Department requesting arms "owing to an invasion of Nicaraguan territory across the frontier with the Republic of Honduras, composed principally of Hondurans and some Nicaraguans."  He asked for 5,000 rifles and three million cartridges; 25 machine guns with 250,000 cartridges; and two airplanes.   In November 1921, as the cross-border raids continued, the State Department approved the deal.
  As New York Times correspondent Harold Denny later recounted, 

By one of those ironies so frequent in the story of American activities in Nicaragua, some of those very guns, long hidden in the mountains of the border, eventually came into the hands of the Sandinistas . . . The munitions were entrusted to the generals for distribution to their men.  Many of the officers, ready to turn an honest penny, sold them to whoever would buy, and they have circulated among the outlaw gentry ever since.

This "outlaw gentry" was in fact comprised of the most prominent Conservative caudillos on both sides of the border.  As one US official observed in 1927, surveying the patterns of the past years, "the authorities along the frontier" routinely assisted 
bandits who nominally owe allegiance to the Conservative Party [and who] have in the past formed a part of the extensive organization of smugglers and cattle thieves who have always operated, more or less under the protection of local officials . . . Honduran officials at Choluteca and in many of the towns near the frontier have sheltered and otherwise assisted the bandit groups operating on Nicaraguan territory.


In short, in the eight years from January 1919 to December 1926, the western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands were in more or less continuous armed ferment.  During these eight years, newspapers and other sources reveal at least 11 distinct periods, each at least several weeks in duration, that saw the mobilization of caudillo-led armies in the western borderlands (see Chart 1).
  Twenty-seven of these 96 months saw substantial military activity in the borderlands – of troops mobilizing, maneuvering, fighting, and dying – an average of roughly one day in four.

Until late1926 (and with the exception of the events of August-November 1921), most of this unrest was rooted in conflicts among factions of Honduran elites.  The mobilizations cost the Honduran treasury dearly.  According to data cited by the New York Times for the year 1921, "only two of the twenty-one American nations are spending more than 40 per cent. of their budgets for military and naval purposes":  Mexico (40.8 percent) and Honduras (44.5 percent). 
  That is, in 1921 Honduras devoted a larger percentage of its national budget to the military than any other nation-state in the Western Hemisphere.  Much of this was evidently spent keeping its military forces in its three borderlands (Guatemala, El Salvador, Nicaragua) in a state of continual preparedness.  In 1919, the year of the Honduran civil war, the military spent an even higher proportion of federal expenditures:  57 percent.
  By law, all able-bodied men were required to muster in the principal towns on the first Sunday of each month, an important mechanism of borderlands mobilization in the 1920s and perhaps long before.


The political tumult spilled north from Nicaragua after Emiliano Chamorro's coup d'état of October 1925, which sparked both widespread Chamorrista violence and a powerful Liberal backlash.  By October 1926, open civil war had broken out across Nicaragua's northern departments, accompanied by widespread sacking, burning, looting, raping, and killing.
  The war also sparked a brisk arms trade in the Gulf of Fonseca between La Unión in El Salvador and Nicaragua's Cosegüina peninsula.
  Cozy relationships between adjacent Conservative regimes also facilitated state-directed mobilization of arms and military resources.  In July 1926, the US State Department reported that "General [Emiliano] Chamorro is in very close relations with General Martinez Funes, Minister of War in Honduras [under President Paz Barahona] and is receiving arms and ammunition through him from the Government of Honduras."
  Extensive political networks also linked Conservative caudillos in Nueva Segovia (Nicaragua) and Choluteca (Honduras), as US officials discovered to their frustration and chagrin.

By October 1926, popular mobilizations against the Chamorro regime were springing up across the western Segovias – described by the US Minister in Managua as "small groups on the west side of the country not under command of Moncada or any other important liberal chief."
   Newspapers, consular and military reports, and oral testimonies produced by the Instituto de Estudio del Sandinismo (IES) in the early 1980s provide ample evidence for these popular mobilizations.
  In late April 1927, the US Minister reported that "Armed marauding bands of deserters from both armies live off the country as bandits and commit acts of violence.  Liberals from northern Nicaragua reenforced by Honduraneans who seem to have brought arms via Rio Negro and Rio Coco are reported well organized in widely separated parts of the country."
  

By 1927, in short, the borderlands were primed for popular insurgency.
3. Forced Contributions

In his study of war-making and state-making over the past thousand years of European history, Charles Tilly observes that, "Roughly speaking, rulers had three main ways of acquiring concentrated means of coercion:  they could seize them, make them, or buy them."
  Caudillo armies in the borderlands historically relied on the first method:  seizing them.  Evidence for the practice abounds.  Nineteenth-century travelers' accounts brim with references to forced loans and contributions levied by dissident armies and factions, as do newspapers and the records of the US State Department (see Illustration 1).

[image: image6.jpg]Empréstlto Formfo de 1926

'Dmeto leguslahvo de 3 de‘mayo de 1926

S~~~

ponde pagar, la que sera enterada en la forma esta-
~ blecida en el Arto. 19 del Decreto de & de mayo de :
1926, reformatorio del dictado el 5 del mismo mes y

ano, -bajo apercibimientos legalcs siUd. nolo ve- »





Illustration 1

Forced loan demand issued to Gonzalo Ocón, Granada, by Jefe Político, Granada, 25 May 1926, US Minister Eberhardt, Managua, to Sec. State Kellogg, Washington, 1 June 1926, USDS 817.00/3642.

The practice was also common in the 1926-27 Civil War.  In April 1927, for instance, a local Liberal chieftain issued the following two notes to a small landowner near San Juan de Telpaneca on the southern edge of the Segovian borderlands:
13 April 1927.  To Alancia Iglesias, widow of Acuña, Cerro Blanco.  Esteemed Madam:  For the second time I order you within 24 hours after receiving this order to pay your quota of C$50 for the contribution that was detailed.  Don't neglect to do this, because if you do you will lose your guarantees and I shall send a commission to take over all your property and sell it to the public to obtain this sum.  This money is for the subsistence of the Constitutional Army that is operating in the face of the Enemy, and you will have to confirm to the instructions of the General and Chief of Operations.  Awaiting your exact compliance, I remain, the Local Commandant  /s/ Leopoldo Quiñónez, Local Commandant. 
14 April 1927.  Received from Alanacia Iglesias $40 forty dollars which was necessary for the subsistence of the Constitutional Army that operates in this zone.  Quilalí.  /s/ Leopoldo Quiñónez, Local Commandant.
   
It is notable that the widow Iglesias was able to bargain down her obligation by C$10, despite Commandant Quiñónez's insistence on her "exact compliance" with the demand.  Clearly, Segovianos had long grown accustomed to such practices.


Also notable is Commandant Quiñónez's use of the term "guarantees" (garantías) – essentially a promise issued by gang patrons and leaders not to loot or destroy the property of those who complied with their demands.  Elsewhere I have explored the ubiquity of the guarantee system in Las Segovias during these years, suggesting that a map of who guaranteed whom would be a map of contending networks of power.  One early Marine report defined the practice:  "The guarantee gives the holder immunity from molestation by the conservative bandits."
  In fact the issuance and revocation of guarantees was practiced by all gangs – Liberal and Conservative – and saturated both sides of the border.  The guarantee system, like forced contributions, was a timeworn mechanism of gang violence in the borderlands directly appropriated by the Sandinista rebels in their struggle for state power.

4. Patriotic Plunder and the Borderlands

Like the mountains and valleys it snaked through, the Honduran border made the Sandino rebellion possible.  Without the mountains, without the valleys, and without the border, a sustained armed insurrection against the Marines and Guardia would not have been possible.  In many ways, the rebellion lived on the border.  Sandino's Defending Army straddled the border, exploited the border, was sustained by the border, existed and survived because of the border.  

The border's semi-porosity was the key to its seemingly magical powers:  while rebels and civilians could cross "the line" routinely and at will, the Marines and Guardia could not.  This simple fact comprised an endless source of irritation and frustration for the latter.  Public opinion, diplomatic pressures, and international law forbade the preferred response of most Marine and Guardia field commanders.  On the rare occasion that they did enter Honduran territory, the repercussions could be felt all the way to Washington.
  The combination of pressures meant that Marine-Guardia cross-border incursions were sporadic and of minor significance overall.  Of much greater moment, indeed of strategic importance, was that the Marines-Guardia could not cross the border that the rebels essentially lived on.  
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Illustration 2
Relief Rendering of the Department of Nueva Segovia, conveying the Marine-Guardia perception that Nicaraguan territory did indeed end at the Honduran border.  Monograph of Nicaragua, USDS 817.00/7294½. 




Information-gathering capacities, second only to violence-making capacities in the resources needed to wage war, were another matter.  Spies, agents, and informants allied with both sides saturated the borderlands.  By war's end both Sandinistas and Guardia had developed highly sophisticated intelligence-gathering apparatuses.  But if the Guardia's agents and spies could readily cross the border, their roving combat patrols could not.  And therein lies a major difference between the two sides that shaped their struggle in fundamental ways.

Just as rebels routinely crossed the border, so too did stories about Marine-Guardia violence against Nicaraguan civilians.  That such stories were legion is evidenced in part by the Marine and Guardia's own reports.  Combat patrols in northern Nicaragua routinely burnt houses and stocks of food, shot at fleeing natives, seized and impressed guides, and violently interrogated civilians.  As the US Military Attaché in Tegucigalpa Fred Cruse observed in mid-1928, "Feeling appears to be very bitter against the Americans among the lower class in Honduras."
  Rebel border chieftains spent much of their time and resources eluding their aggressive, relentless, heavily-armed pursuers, using the Honduran side of the border as a safe haven.  The 11-day cat-and-mouse game played by Guardia Captains Stockes and Hakala and Sandinista Generals Salgado and Ortez in the borderlands in spring 1929 is emblematic of these broader trends.
  Movements of rebels back and forth across the border and the circulation of stories about Marine-Guardia violence generated deep anti-Yankee sentiment throughout the borderlands. 

In addition to serving as refuge, the Honduran border zones offered ready markets for plundered property.  Waging war, one of the most resource-intensive activities that states undertake, demands steady and sustained flows of capital.  Despite his best efforts, Sandino did not garner any material support from any government, and raised paltry sums from private sources.  Throughout the war the ragtag Sandinista bands, more than 100 in all, required a steady stream of supplies to remain active in the field – especially firearms and ammunition.  From early on emerged two main types of rebel bands:  bands of the borderlands, and bands of the deep interior.  The former looked north and west to Honduras and depended on the border for refuge and markets.  The latter looked north and east to the vast frontier regions of the Ríos Bocay and Coco and the Atlantic Coast, and were more self-sufficient, feeding off Jinotega and Matagalpa's merchants and coffee growers to procure arms smuggled into the region.
One can visualize this process of popular-nationalist plunder as a kind of vacuum or drain sucking small lumps of capital out of Nicaragua through a thousand arteries stretching across the border – and, at the other end, funneled down the Río Coco to the Atlantic Coast – sold or bartered for supplies needed to wage war.  The net capital drain from the Nicaraguan Segovias was sustained and substantial through nearly six years of war.  As Nicaragua's northern departments were drained of capital, the Honduran borderlands were engorged with capital inflows.  
Thus, in keeping with a timeworn practice, when the rebellion erupted in June 1927 Sandino assigned a contribution of C$5,000 to the merchant house of Francisco Sierke & Brother, with outlets in Telpaneca, Somoto, San Marcos de Colón, and other towns on both sides of the border.
  The practice proliferated over the next six years, undertaken by scores of rebel jefes.
  From early on it became institutionalized, as Sandino and his lieutenants routinely issued notices to property-holders across the northern departments demanding monetary contributions in exchange for "guarantees."
  In light of the lack of external funding and the region's deep poverty and social divisions of race and class, "robbery," as defined by the national state, was integral to Sandino's campesino insurgency. 

From the outset the Marines and Guardia lamented that many of the goods "stolen" by the "bandits" were transported to Honduras and bartered or sold to leading merchants.  By war's end intelligence reports described the practice in stock, shopworn language, in the requisite section titled "Enemy Supply and Equipment":  "Reports still indicate that the majority of the arms and ammunition used by the bandits comes from Honduras.  This is undoubtedly true.  The old bandit game of trading animals and stock, stolen in Nicaragua, for arms and ammunition in Honduras, is still in vogue."

One anonymous report submitted to the Guardia in early 1929 by a bitter enemy of the Sandinistas, probably an Ocotal Conservative, captured the perspective of many property-holders: 
Sandinismo is a modern Latin American School for Banditry, it was founded in Nicaragua in 1927 by Augusto C. Sandino and supported by the false Latin American Patriotic Feeling exploiting the idea that the Americans have not come to Nicaragua with a friendly feeling but with the only purpose to oppress the small Caribbean Republic. . . . There are two classes of Sandinismo:  Intellectual Sandinismo and Material Sandinismo. . . . 
Material Sandinismo:  The so-called General Sandino followed by a bunch of bandits most of them being Hondurans and half-wits whose actions have been to protect with their arms the profits of their banditry and carry it safely to a friendly market on the other side of the Honduran border.
 

Market for Sandino's Merchandise:  This market is really formed by a few merchants:  Casa Siercke in El Paraiso and Alauca and Danli; Casa Rossner, located in El Paraiso and Danli; Jose Calazan Vallardes [Ballardes], located also in El Paraiso and Danli; Hipolito Agasse in San Marcos de Colon, who buy from Sandino at very low prices, gold, cattle, mules, horses, dry hides, coffee, soap, and everything that the bandits under Sandino rob from the poor people in the Northern Departments of Nicaragua.  The money Sandino gets from these merchants is [used to buy] ammunition, arms, clothes, and supplies, and everything they need.  This is the reason why Sandino and his followers can live in a mountain where now it cannot even be found a single place where to buy any kind of food.
The anonymous author concluded by suggesting "How Sandinismo Could Be Destroyed."  The analysis zeroed in on regaining control of the border:
The very first thing that must be done is to establish good authorities on the other side of the Honduran Border in order to block Sandino's trade with Honduras.  Also to enforce the need of passports to everyone that needs to cross the border.  If the new Honduran Government is decided to help to finish with Sandino, it would be a good measure to order the concentration of all Nicaraguans living temporarily in the zone infested with Sandinistas, in Honduran Territory.  . . . It must be understood that all the people that live on the border, both Nicaraguan and Honduran, are Sandinistas due to the fact that they profit with his trade through the border. 
Subsequent Marine-Guardia investigations confirmed the writer's allegations regarding leading borderlands merchants, and the complicity of Honduran border officials, who profited handsomely from the practice.  As a typical report of early 1929 noted:

To begin with, Honduras has not suffered from banditry as in Nicaragua.  Her citizens along the Nicaraguan-Honduran border are prosperous and undisturbed, whereas, the Nicaraguan side of the line has been desolated by bandit ravages.  A large percentage of these outlaws are Hondurans who rustle cattle and horses, rob coffee, etc. in Nicaragua and sell them in their own country.  (Four fifths of Salgado's forces which disbanded on Apr. 1st is said by natives to have been composed of Hondurans.)  Certain Honduran officials and their agents do a lucrative business by purchasing stolen property from the bandits, selling them arms, ammunition, etc.

Archival evidence paints a fine-grained portrait of this process of popular plunder.  Material necessities and stark social divisions made Sandino's rebellion as much a civil and class war against the rich and propertied as a nationalist anti-Yankee crusade.  Absent the political and jurisdictional "warping" effects of the Honduran border, and the local forms of sovereignty thus fostered, the insurgency would have sputtered and died.
A fascinating report offering additional insights into this process, and into popular sympathies for Sandino in the Honduran borderlands, was produced in early 1932 by Guardia Second Lieutenant Guillermo Cuadra, the brother of renowned Nicaraguan writers Manolo and Abelardo Cuadra.  After describing in loving detail his two-week journey through the Honduran border zones posing as a traveling salesman, Cuadra concluded:

The common run of Honduran is a lover of the things and prowess achieved by Sandino.  Whoever comes from Nicaragua is not looked well upon if they do not arrive speaking of having killed so many Americans and made fly the heads of so many Guardia.  In all the parts [of Honduras] I passed through till today, I was told that if one is travelling to Nicaragua one should not fear the Sandinista forces, but those of the Guardia Nacional."

Cuadra's report, along with much other evidence, shows that Hondurans of all social classes tended to fear and disparage the Marines and Guardia and sympathize with the rebel movement – a movement devoted, in principle, to defending Nicaraguan national sovereignty.  In many ways it was the structural ambiguities and local sovereignties of the borderlands made such elastic affiliations, and thus the Sandinista insurgency, possible.

On the Nicaraguan side, in contrast, Segovian society grew increasingly polarized.  Anti-Sandinista sentiments flourished among the propertied classes, exemplified in the anonymous letter cited above.  Several distinct currents of anti-Sandinista discourse emerged:  locally, among Segovian property-holders and their clients and allies; nationally, in the major newspapers of the Pacific Coast; institutionally, in the reports and everyday language used by the Marines and Guardia; and internationally, in the rhetoric of the State Department and the mainstream press.  The most vitriolic of these currents were synthesized and given authoritative weight in Anastasio Somoza's landmark 1936 book, El verdadero Sandino.  Denunciations of Sandino's campesino insurgency rested on two pillars:  crimes against person, and crimes against property.  Both practices intensified as the war did.  Sandinista violence against Segovianos, undertaken in a context of a violent foreign invasion and occupation, rested on long Segovian antecedents, as I have explored elsewhere.  The roots of Sandinista "crimes" against property – a practice institutionalized as the principal fiscal strategy of an insurgent government, and made possible by the existence of the borderlands – ran just as deep.

5. Migrants and Refugees 

Adding to the tumult and confusion of the borderlands in these years were the flows of migrants and political refugees from both sides during periods of political unrest.  During the Honduran civil war of 1919, "thousands" of Honduran refugees reportedly streamed across the border into Nicaragua.  "Many of the fugitives . . . have had encounters with the Honduras authorities, and when they reach Nicaraguan territory they are immediately gathered into concentration [refugee] camps."
  The Honduran civil war of 1924 prompted a similar movement, while the Nicaraguan civil war of 1926-27 reversed the flow, with thousands of Nicaraguans seeking refuge in adjacent areas of Honduras.  A Guardia report of August 1928 on the "repatriation of destitute Nicaraguans in Honduras" – only six weeks before Nicaragua's long-awaited November 1928 elections – estimated that "there are as many as five thousand Nicaraguans [now in the Honduras border zones] whose homes were formerly at or in the vicinity of Quilali, Jicaro, Murra, Jalapa, Dipilto, Macuelizo, Ococono, and Santa Maria" in the Nicaraguan Segovias.  The report also alluded to an important mechanism of political-military mobilization in the borderlands, one that doubtless had deep roots in the region:  the practice of mustering all able-bodied men on the first Sunday of each month:
Sunday, August 5th, 1928, being the first Sunday of the month was general muster day for all men of the first class under the universal enrollment law for the military jurisdiction of Danli.  The town was crowded with men from all the rural sections.  Many Nicaraguans were present.

Political affiliations reportedly played a crucial role in such cross-border movements, and in determining where refugees relocated and with whom they associated.  "A careful study was made of the sections of Honduras in which Nicaraguans seem to have drifted from one cause or another . . . Nicaraguans seem to have grouped themselves as much because of membership in the same political party as because of sections of Nicaragua from which immigrated."


Reports of Nicaraguan refugees in Honduras continued for the next four years.  By late in the war thousands of Nicaraguans, including many former rebels, had fled across the border where they formed large exile communities in Choluteca, El Paraíso, Danlí, Tegucigalpa, and other major towns.  One report of June 1932 estimated "that there are about 1800 Nicaraguan emigrants in Honduras, and that the majority of them are Sandinistas."
  
Danlí emerged as an important locus of Sandinista organizing, recruiting, and market for plundered goods.  Prominent Sandinista agents in Danlí included Ramón Raudales (who later became one of two living links between Sandino's Defending Army and the Sandinista National Liberation Front of the 1960s and after), José Idiáquez, Manuel Guillén, Juan Colindres, José C. Ballardes, Carlos Bellorin, Alfonso Irías, and the wife of Sandinista General Juan Gregorio Colindres ("Reported [that] Colindres' wife has lived in DANLI, Honduras for the past four years and is a very active bandit agent"), and others.  One report noted that "many houses in Danli and neighboring territory have large photographs of Sandino hanging on the walls."
  Sandinista exiles in Danlí and other border towns even held public commemorations to honor their fallen comrades.  "Bandits recently held a celebration in Danli and Escuapa, Honduras, during which time the bandit flags were half-masted.  The celebration ended with mourning for their dead and wounded, casualties inflicted by Guardia" in recent combats.

As the war intensified, the swirl of rumors and conflicting reports on the movements of  bands of rebels and refugees makes it difficult to determine what was happening in the borderlands at any given moment.  Two brief reports on events near Jalapa in early June 1932 capture this sense of confusion and chaos.  The first reads:
Reliable citizen of Ocotal who owns property [near Jalapa] reported to CO Jalapa that all natives in vicinity of [Jalapa] suddenly deserted their homes yesterday, beginning at 1700 [5:00 p.m.] and clearing during the night.  Informant states that all houses in vicinity mentioned are deserted.  Natives invited him to accompany them to Honduras, but did not state reasons for deserting their homes.  Crops and livestock were abandoned. 
A second bit of intelligence, buried amid a blizzard of such snippets, suggested the reason behind Jalapa's "natives'" sudden abandonment of their homes and livestock and movement to Honduras:  "Information received [that] three hundred men came from Honduras and passed through Los Encinos [near Jalapa] in the direction of Chipote."
  It thus appears that in this tiny instance, some of Jalapa's more "reliable" rural proprietors temporarily abandoned their properties and fled to Honduras upon learning that hundreds of rebels would soon be streaming in from Honduras. The overall image conveyed in the documentary record is of a whirlwind of movement back and forth across the border, of people seeking to escape the rising tide of violence and bloodshed, to gain material advantage from it, or to hurl themselves into the fight to expel the Marines from Nicaragua. 
6. Borderland Jefes:  The Case of Porfirio Sánchez


The chequered military career of Honduras-born General Porfirio Sánchez, a prominent Sandinista jefe early in the war, illustrates larger patterns of military, political, and cultural dynamics in the wartime borderlands.  A colonel in the 1926-27 Constitutionalist War under then-Liberal General Sandino, Sánchez was described in early Marine reports:

Heavy, dark, 28 years, brave, Hondurian, small mustache and beard, deep voiced, very heavy shoulders, had a troop in the revolution [the Civil War]. . . . Credited with all murders and outrages in country south of Jicaro.  Easily Sandino's right bower; well mounted and well armed troop. . . . He is Sandino's chief of artillery and a Honduranian. . . . very thin and tall, clean-shaven and with straight smooth black hair.  He wears glasses but not continually. . . . His face is round and dark and he has two gold teeth in front. . . . His head would look well on a pole.
  

When Sandino's rebellion erupted in May 1927, according to a biography of Sandinista General José León Díaz by the politically savvy Marine Captain William Stockes, "Porfirio Sánchez visited Somoto and invited [José León] Díaz to join Sandino" – making Sánchez a key early recruiter and link between Sandino and independent Liberal bands in the region.
  According to a native captured by the Marines during their assault on El Chipote in late 1927, Sánchez headed an army of 600 Hondurans – an inflated figure, to be sure, but suggestive of both his stature and the large numbers of Honduran Sandinistas, at the time and for the next five years.
  


In a February 1928 interview with the North American journalist Carleton Beals, Sandino castigated Porfirio Sánchez for levying "forced contributions on a number of private citizens" around Yalí, declaring:  "[I]f I lay my hands on him, he will be shot."
  It was an absurd charge, meant for external consumption, and contradicted by Sandino's later letters and manifestos justifying the practice.
   Sánchez remained affiliated with the Defending Army for the next three years.
In February 1929 he was reported captured and held prisoner by the commandant of the Honduran Border Patrol at Cifuentes.
  The report was mistaken.  In fact the commandant of the Honduran Border Patrol at Cifuentes was Porfirio Sánchez's cousin, José Antonio Sánchez, who was allied with several important Sandinista jefes, including his cousin Porfirio.
  The highest-ranking army official charged with enforcing Honduran law on the Honduran side of the border, José Antonio Sánchez worked with the Sandinistas, not against them.  The string of terse reports he sent to Marine-Guardia intelligence agents were consistently vague and often untimely, giving the appearance of cooperation but of little practical use.  One analyst denounced him as a Sandinista agent:  "Jose Antonio Sanchez, the Honduran border jefe and his soldiers make all Sandino's propaganda possible and tell the people what the bandits are going to do to Santa Maria Guardia . . . Talk of [Marine-Guardia] patrols crossing the border caused by [Honduran] border patrols to embarrass us."
  
José Antonio Sánchez served  as an army commander in the borderlands at least as far back as the Honduran Civil War of 1924, when he commanded the Danlí district under the regime of President Rafael López Gutiérrez.  In February 1924, when upwards of 2,000 Cariísta revolutionists (under defeated presidential candidate Carías Andino) mobilized in the Nicaraguan Segovias and launched a revolution into Honduras, José Antonio Sánchez was among the commanders who routed them.  Among the "cariísta" rebel leaders who attacked the Honduran "lopezgutierristas" in early 1924 was Juan B. Paguaga.  As I have explored elsewhere, the Paguagas of Ocotal were the leading Chamorrista family of Nueva Segovia.  In the late 1920s José Antonio Sánchez was still a border commander, only now under a different president, and sympathetic to the Sandinistas – among whose leading generals was his cousin Porfirio.

The case of the cousins Sánchez illuminates several broader patterns.  For one, it shows some of the ways in which the Sandinista struggle flowed out of longstanding political struggles in the region.  The civil wars of 1924 and 1926-27 merged into the Sandinista insurgency at many levels, as lines of alliance and conflict were reconfigured under new circumstances.  Further, like José Antonio Sánchez most Honduran border officials colluded with the rebels, profiting handsomely from their activities.  The case also illustrates some of the ways that kin networks spanning the border comprised a cornerstone of rebel support. 

Porfirio Sánchez was not detained by the Honduran Border Guard in February 1929.  Instead, by May 1929 he was reportedly "in Tegucigalpa . . . waiting for a job that was promised him by the Honduran Government."
  During Sandino's sojourn to Mexico (May 1929-May 1930), many rebels and rebel jefes in exile sought and received Honduran government jobs.  Sandinista Colonel Victor Lagos reportedly relocated to Perspire, Honduras, "where he has been made the local Comandante."
 Sandinista General José León Díaz was reported employed as a "sub-jefe on road gang near Moresli [Moroselí, Honduras]."
  "About 40 Nicaraguan ex-bandits" were said to be "working on the new road between Tegucigalpa and Danlí."
  Road work in Honduras permitted the Defending Army to maintain cohesion and accumulate resources while their supreme chief was abroad.  It also provided gunpowder for hundreds of homemade bombs the rebels later used in combat against the Marines and Guardia.

Porfirio Sánchez eventually got his government job.  By October 1929 he was reportedly a police inspector in Tegucigalpa.
  A few months later, in February 1930, he was said to be "employed by the Hondurian Government as a road construction chief, [and] is trying to organize a band for operations near Las Manos and is furnishing arms and ammunition to bandits in Segovia."
  Other rebels got similar jobs, building roads, on haciendas, and in Honduran silver and gold mines.  In October 1929, Ramón Raudales, Sandinista agent in Danlí, reportedly stated that "Sandino ordered all [his] men to work on fincas and gain information on troop supplies, etc. and bandits would reorganize with better equipment . . ."
  Another report noted that "300 former bandits [are] working for the Agua Fria Mining Company" in Honduras.
  The seasonal coffee harvest also provided jobs for rebels on both sides of the border.  As one intelligence analyst noted in late 1929,

The number of active armed bandits has increased, and it is believed that their number has been augmented by many from Honduras who have been more or less waiting for the coffee season.  Those who have been inactive since last May and June have again joined their respective leaders either through compulsion or voluntarily. … a tremendous increase in bandit activities has been noted.


After May 1930, when Sandino returned from Mexico, both the insurgency and counterinsurgency intensified sharply.  Where was Porfirio Sánchez?  A report described his movements from early 1929:  he "left Nicaragua and was employed as an officer in the Honduranian Army.  He was in actual service when he deserted from Honduras with ten soldiers and ten policemen about April 24, 1930."
  Seven months later, in January 1931, in an intriguing report, he was "now living at the house of Abraham Gutiérrez in Ocotal and leaves town frequently."
  Abraham Gutiérrez, an ally of Gustavo Paguaga, was one of Nueva Segovia's leading Conservatives and a key patron of Chamorrista gang violence after the Civil War.
  The report might suggest continuing links between ousted regional Conservative caudillos and the Sandinista rebels.  More likely, it meant that Porfirio Sánchez had abandoned the rebel cause.  January 1931 is the last time his name appears in rebel or Marine-Guardia documents – a silence indicating his decisive withdrawal from the movement.

7. Other Borderlands Jefes and Honduran Sandinistas
From early on, Hondurans comprised a large percentage of the EDSN's rank-and-file troops in the western Segovias.  At least five Hondurans were among the "original twenty-nine" who followed Sandino in May 1927 at San Rafael del Norte.
  Many other early reports noted large numbers of Hondurans among Sandino's troops. "General Sandino is the only remaining revolutionary leader of consequence," wrote US Minister Eberhardt in late May 1926.  "He is headed for the Honduranean boundary with about 200 followers including sixty Honduraneans."
  After Sandino sacked El Jícaro and seized the San Albino Mine in June 1927, large numbers of Hondurans reportedly streamed into the area.  One North American eyewitness, L. J. Matteson, manager of San Albino, observed in August 1927 the arrival of 200 unarmed men from Honduras, and a week later, fifty more.
  Similar reports continued throughout the nearly six years of rebellion.
  In May 1929, the Marine Commander in Nicaragua, General McDougal, adjudged that "a large proportion of the rebels, perhaps one half, are Hondurans and that the rebel chiefs have their headquarters in and direct their operations from Honduran territory."
  Early in the war, in a letter to General José León Díaz, Sandino emphasized the close bonds between rebels in Nicaragua and Honduras:  "They [the Marines and Guardia] say that the Honduran Government assists us; but in any case, you know that the Hondurans are our brothers."

Most Honduran borderland campesinos supported the rebels by providing food, information, shelter, and other necessities.  The highest ranking border jefes – Carlos Salgado, Miguel Angel Ortez, Juan Pablo Umanzor, Simón González, and others – routinely sought refuge and recruits among Honduran borderland campesinos.  Several factors impelled Honduran campesinos to join or support the Sandinistas.  Kin and community relations linked people on both sides, making Marine-Guardia violence against Nicaraguans very much a Honduran problem and Honduran reality.  Further, most borderlands jefes worked diligently to cultivate patronage networks among Honduran campesinos, distributing loot and paying for food and supplies.

Sandinista General Carlos Salgado, for example, evidently had hundreds of friends and allies thickly scattered across the Honduran side of the borderlands.  "All Ortez and Salgado travel performed in Honduran territory," noted one intelligence analyst in April 1929.  "Salgado['s] men get very little to eat.  All purchases made in Honduras are paid for in money."
  Captain Stockes, aggressively chasing the elusive Salgado through the mountains, noted that "the Comandante [at Oropolí, Honduras] claims Salgado paid for all supplies in Honduras. . . . Salgado is obtaining his food, etc. from Honduras.  Inhabitants of Pedregalito and Suyatal [Honduras] are well known supporters of Ortez and Salgado."
  

Many Honduran campesinos supported the rebellion in part because it offered diverse opportunities for material gain.  For many, the flows of capital north from Nicaragua comprised an important material interest to be protected and defended.  The sensibility, excitement, and novelty of belonging to a wholly new imagined political community probably also motivated at least some Honduran borderlanders to support Sandino, as did the hatred sparked by Marine and Guardia violence in Nicaragua.  Whatever the combination of factors, the observation of one Marine analyst applies to the whole period:  "Most of the people of Honduras are sympathizers to Sandino's cause."

By 1931, as the devastating impact of the Great Depression began to be felt across Central America, and after dissident Liberals were crushed in an abortive revolt against Honduran President Mejía Colindres, popular sympathies in Honduras for Sandino were only magnified.  As one report noted, "With the present economic conditions, lack of work, the apparent food shortage and the sudden collapse of the revolution in Honduras which turned loose a considerable number of lawless elements, it is believed the bandit groups have been able to add to their numbers."
  A few months later another reported noted that

Reported economic conditions in Honduras continue bad.  Telegraphic operators and school teachers have not been paid for some months.  No money is available to pay their soldiers and many of those who have enlisted recently have done so only to obtain a rifle and ammunition and join the bandits.

Still, joining the rebel ranks in Nicaragua entailed many dangers.  As one analyst noted, 

Evidence indicates that quite a few former member of Nicaraguan bandit groups are living in Honduras saying they are tired of playing a losing game and have quit; also that these ex-bandits plus many Honduranians have a very wholesome respect for the fighting qualities and general efficiency of the Guardia Nacional.

This was an accurate assessment:  joining rebel raids and combats carried enormous risks that only a fraction of able-bodied Honduran men were willing to take.

A small but significant number of wealthy Hondurans, and wealthy Nicaraguans with property in Honduras, actively patronized rebel jefes and their followers, while many Honduran Sandinista commercial agents, spies, informants, and couriers played vital roles in the movement.  Competing political parties and factions in Honduras each had their own reasons for supporting Sandino.  A report on the period before the November 1928 elections (in both Honduras and Nicaragua) suggests some of convoluted ways that the intricacies of Honduran politics played themselves out with respect to Sandino's rebellion: 

Last year before the Presidential Elections took place in Nicaragua and Honduras, Sandino was backed up by both parties from Honduras.  The Carisismo (Conservatives) sent arms and supplies in order to have him starting trouble in Nicaragua and so help indirectly the Nicaraguan Conservative Party.  On the other hand the Honduranian Liberal Party was supporting Sandino with the purpose of using him and his forces in case the Liberal Party would be defeated.  Ferrera's plan was to have Sandino invade Honduras through Nicaragua and him (Ferrera) was to invade Honduras through Guatemala where he was ready to do so.  General Mondragon and General Avelino Diaz have had their secret agent in El Ocotal, General Lopez and Frederico Nolazco who manage to send them reports of what is happening in Ocotal regarding the National Guard and Marine Corps activities.

The collusion of Honduran government and border officials with Sandino rebels from 1928 to 1932 is particularly ironic in light of Sandino's venomous denunciations of the Mejía Colindres regime (1928-1932).  "Nuestro Ejército reconoce como enemigo, tanto al renegado gobierno de Nicaragua, como al actual Gobierno de Honduras," declared Sandino in August 1931, "porque los dos son agentes de los banqueros yankees, y nuestros dos pueblos (Honduras y Nicaragua), no esperan nada de semejantes piltrafas humanas."
  Yet the active support of Honduran governmental officials continued.  In May 1932 a reliable informant reported to the Guardia that "[Sandinista General Juan Gregorio] Colindres is buying arms and ammunition from officials of the Honduran Army and that these purchases are made through his brother Francisco Colindres, an employee on the Tegucigalpa-Jacaleapa road."
  A month later it was reported that "Colindres also purchases arms and ammunition from Conservatives of Honduras, some of them Jefes de Armas under the Honduranian government."
  Such collusion became an enduring feature of the rebellion.  In the borderlands it was local sovereignties, not the political will of the central state, that ultimately mattered.
In short, the evidence reveals broad-based, cross-class support for Sandino across the Honduran borderlands throughout this period.  Yet this was no cross-class alliance – far from it.  Instead, individuals and groups supported the struggle for a diversity of often divergent personal and political reasons.  Whatever the constellation of motives in specific instances, the big picture is clear:  large numbers of Honduran borderlanders, of all social strata, used the rebellion to advance their political and economic interests.
8.   Growth of the Guardia in the Segovian Borderlands
For the Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua, the strategic disadvantages conferred by the Honduran border led to more muscular development of its intelligence, surveillance, and violence-making capacities than would have been necessary had the border not existed.  Because of the structural limitations on state power induced by the border's semi-porosity, and the Guardia's inability to pursue the rebels beyond the imaginary line marking the end of Nicaraguan national territory, there developed on the Nicaraguan side of the border a more robust and rapid expansion of state power than would have otherwise been the case.  The archival record paints a fine-grained portrait of this expansion.
[ Wherein the author surveys the growth in Guardia violence-making capacities, especially evident in its roving combat patrols and garrisoned towns, and in its growing intelligence and surveillance capacities; compilation of lists upon lists of "bandit suspects" in the final year of the Marine intervention; accumulation of coded information on "bandits"; institutionalization of Guardia power throughout the social fabric of the region; transformation of jueces de mesta and jueces de canton into agents of the state  . . . section in progress ] 
9.  Consolidation of the Carías and Somoza Regimes
In the bigger picture of the interwar years, of course, events in these two small Central American nation-states followed a broader Latin American pattern:  upsurges in labor and political unrest in the immediate aftermath of the Great War and the Russian and Mexican revolutions – upsurges linked in some fashion to larger processes of capitalist transformation and US empire formation – followed in the 1920s by political instability rooted largely in populist efforts to tame mounting pressures by working and middle classes and urban dwellers demanding greater economic and political rights; followed after 1930 by the economic sledgehammer of the Great Depression, mounting popular unrest, and the formation of military dictatorships.  Yet these broader patterns can obscure as much as they reveal.  Nicaragua and Honduras followed distinctive trajectories, based on the logics of their own histories, to culminate in both cases in the consolidation of stable dictatorial regimes in the 1930s.
In Honduras, Conservative strongman Tiburcio Carías Andino seized power in 1932, ruling until 1948.  Notably, the country's southern borderlands played a marginal role in the jockeying for state power that led to the Carías dictatorship.  By the 1920s the center of political and economic gravity in Honduras had shifted decisively to the port cities and banana plantations of the North Coast.  By this time the southern border departments of Choluteca and El Paraíso had become marginal to the country's economic lifeblood, and thus to its political economy of organized violence.  As Darío Euraque argues, the 1920s and 1930s did not constitute a "critical conjuncture" in the formation of the Honduran state, a conjuncture that came in the 1950s.

In Nicaragua, in contrast, the northern borderlands played a crucial role in the consolidation of the national state that accompanied the formation of the National Guard and its post-1932 monopoly on violence-making, culminating in the 1936 seizure of power by Anastasio Somoza García.   . . .  [in progress] 

10.  Conclusion
If the first decades of the twentieth century saw frequent eruptions of "border troubles" across the Isthmus, the period from mid-1927 to early 1933 in the Western Nicaragua-Honduras borderlands stands out as unique.  Here, border dynamics assumed a life and momentum of their own, largely in consequence of events set in motion by the US invasion and occupation of northern Nicaragua.  The presence of several thousand US troops, a campesino insurgency, and the newly created Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua – in the context of the region's crushing poverty and stark inequalities – injected radical new elements into the mix, "democratizing" the use of violence and permitting lower-class men to wage class warfare under a nationalist rubric.  Property-holders on the Nicaraguan side tended to ally with the US Marines and Guardia Nacional, facilitating the regional consolidation of a fractured Nicaraguan state.  On the Honduran side merchants, state officials, landowners, local elites, criminals, and ordinary people tended to ally with the Sandinistas, feeding into the relative incoherence of the Honduran state in the years before the Carías dictatorship, but in the end not playing a central role in the regime's consolidation of power.

By the early 1930s the borderlands mobilizations had largely ended, as both the Carias regime in Honduras and the Sacasa and Somoza regimes in Nicaragua consolidated their respective power bases.  By this time a kind of war-weariness appears to have descended across much of the borderlands, which from this point largely ceased to be a significant locus of political-military mobilization.  As a result of the consolidation and stabilization of these two neighboring states, this dynamic of borderlands mobilization did not reemerge until the Contra War of the 1980s, when it fluoresced once again. 

Are there other regions of the world whose borderlands have played, or are playing, roles similar to the ones examined here?  Historically, the practice of patriotic plunder among insurgent groups is relatively common.
  So too is the process by which historically developed local and regional sovereignties in borderlands act as crucibles in which anti-national-state and anti-imperialist rebellions are forged and sustained.
  One can identify many cases that are similar, in various specifics, to the case examined here.  At the same time, the combination of longer-term historical antecedents and short-term triggers would appear to mark this case as sui generis.  Yet despite its many unique features, the case offers a compelling illustration of processes common to many small wars and insurgencies in border regions.  Most broadly it shows the complex and unpredictable ways that "peripheral" borderland sovereignties can effectively challenge and thwart the wills and projects of dominant groups and national states, and thus play a central role in shaping wider patterns of social and historical change.
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